

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

5-2023

Comparative Characteristics of Integrin α D β 2 Binding to Native Fibrinogen and Fibrinogen Modified by DHA Oxidation During Inflammation

Ajibola Ilesanmi East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Immunology of Infectious Disease Commons

Recommended Citation

Ilesanmi, Ajibola, "Comparative Characteristics of Integrin αDβ2 Binding to Native Fibrinogen and Fibrinogen Modified by DHA Oxidation During Inflammation" (2023). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 4225. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/4225

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Comparative Characteristics of Integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ Binding to Native Fibrinogen and

Fibrinogen Modified by DHA Oxidation During Inflammation

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Biological Sciences

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirement for the degree

Master of Science in Biology

by

Ajibola Ilesanmi

May 2023

Dr. Valentin Yakubenko, Chair

Dr. Chad Frasier

Dr. Patrick Bradshaw

Keywords: inflammation, macrophage, integrins, CEP, protein interaction, adhesion

ABSTRACT

Comparative Characteristics of Integrin αDβ2 Binding to Native Fibrinogen and Fibrinogen Modified by DHA Oxidation During Inflammation

by

Ajibola Ilesanmi

2- ω -carboxyethylpyrrole (CEP) is a product of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) oxidation, which forms covalent adducts with different proteins. CEP-modified proteins can interact with macrophage receptor, integrin α D β 2. This study aims to compare α D β 2 binding to its physiological ligand, fibrinogen, and CEP-modified fibrinogen, which is formed during inflammation. We hypothesize that modification of fibrinogen changes its ligand-binding properties to integrin α D β 2 which can affect macrophage migration and retention. Recombinant α D I-domain and α D β 2-transfected HEK293 cells were used for the experiments. Using biolayer interferometry, we found that the affinity of α D I-domain binding to fibrinogen-CEP was higher than fibrinogen and inhibited by the anti-CEP antibody. In agreement, α D β 2-transfected cells demonstrated stronger adhesion to fibrinogen-CEP and this adhesion was significantly inhibited by polyglutamic acid that mimics CEP-mediated binding. These findings suggest that α D β 2's interaction with DHA-modified extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins significantly increases macrophage adhesion and may serve for macrophage retention during chronic inflammation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my thesis advisor Dr Valentin Yakubenko, for providing me with invaluable guidance, support, and encouragement throughout my research journey. His expertise and willingness to share knowledge have been instrumental in shaping my research and academic pursuits. I would like to express my appreciation to the members of my thesis committee, [Dr. Chad Frasier and Dr. Patrick Bradshaw], for their insightful comments and constructive criticism, which have helped me to refine my research.

I would like to acknowledge my lab colleagues, [Jared Casteel, Kasey Keever, and Afia Maheda], for their support and collaboration during my experiments. Their contributions to my work have been invaluable and have enriched my research experience. Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family and friends for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout my academic journey. Their love and support have been the driving force behind my success, and I am forever grateful for their presence in my life.

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
LIST OF FIGURES	7
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	9
Acute and Chronic Inflammation	10
Inflammatory Response	11
Chronic Inflammation	14
Resolution for Chronic Inflammation	14
Roles of Macrophages in Resolution of Chronic Inflammation	15
Pro-inflammatory macrophages	17
The Integrin Family	18
Integrin Structure	20
Beta2 (β2) integrins	23
DHA Oxidation during inflammation (CEP formation)	25
Role of CEP- $\alpha_D\beta_2$ Interaction in inflammation	28
Aims and Hypothesis	
CHAPTER 2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	
Experimental Design Workflow	
Protein Expression	
Plasmid Construct	
DNA Isolation	
BL21 Cell Transformation	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Bacteria Cell Culture	33
IPTG-Induced Protein Expression	34
αD I-domain Protein Isolation	35
Bacterial Cell Lysis by Sonication	35
Protein Isolation by Ni-NTA Column Chromatography	35
Protein Dialysis	36
Protein Analysis	37
Protein Quantification by SDS-PAGE	37
Protein Quantification by Bradford Assay	38
Kinetic Characterization of Protein Interactions by Biolayer Interferometry	38
Biolayer Interferometry Assay	39
Cell Adhesion	39
Cell Culture	39
Cell Adhesion Assay	40
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	41
Protein Isolation and Purification	41
lphaD eta 2 Purified I-Domain Demonstrated Stronger Binding to Fibrinogen-CEP than.	44
Fibrinogen	44
Anti-CEP antibody dramatically reduced the binding of $\alpha D\beta 2$ I-domain to	49
fibrinogen-CEP	49
$\alpha D\beta 2$ -Transfected HEK293 cells demonstrated higher adhesion to fibrinogen	50
CEP than fibrinogen	50
Polyglutamic acid markedly decreased the adhesion of $\alpha D\beta 2$ transfected cells	50

to fibrinogen-CEP	50
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION	53
REFERENCES	57
VITA	688

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Acute inflammatory response. Reprinted with permission from AAAS [20]	. 12
Figure 2: Chronic Inflammation	. 16
Figure 3: Leukocyte Adhesion Cascade	. 18
Figure 4: The Integrin Family	. 20
Figure 5: Integrin Structure	. 22
Figure 6: Schematic representation of CEP formation	.28
Figure 7: Protein expression from bacterial culture	. 34
Figure 8: SDS-PAGE: α D β 2 I-domain Protein Expression under different conditions	.42
Figure 9: SDS-PAGE analysis of purified wild type αD I-domain protein	.43
Figure 10: Bradford Assay (BCA) graph for determining αD I-domain protein	
concentration	.44
Figure 11: αD I-Domain Binding to Fibrinogen	.45
Figure 12: αD I-domain binding to Fibrinogen-CEP.	.46
Figure 13: αD I-domain binding to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP at 320 nM	
concentration	.47
Figure 14: Steady state analysis of the interaction between $\alpha D\beta 2$ and (A) fibrinogen	
or (B) fibrinogen-CEP.	.48
Figure 15: Inhibition of αD I-domain binding to fibrinogen-CEP by anti-CEP antibody	.49
Figure 16: Adhesion of $\alpha D\beta$ 2-transfected HEK293 cells to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-	
CEP(A) at optimal concentrations (B)	.50
Figure 17: Chemical structures of (A) 2-(ω -carboxyethyl) pyrrole (CEP) and (B)	
polyglutamic acid	.51

Figure 18: Inhibition of $\alpha D\beta$ 2-transfected HEK293 cells adhesion to fibrinogen-CEP	
by Polyglutamic acid	52

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The immune system reacts and plays its part in defending the body when it is subjected to harsh and stressful conditions, external or internal foreign stimuli, or both. Inflammation is one of these responses. Specialized cells enable the immune system to recognize and eliminate harmful and foreign stimuli while also starting the healing process. Time is a crucial element in the process of inflammation since it determines and categorizes the stage of inflammation, which can be acute—rapid response and brief symptomatic manifestation—or chronic—considerably longer duration of inflammation. However, the injury's origin and the immune cells' ability to treat and resolve the issue also affect the type of inflammation, the intensity, and the effects. As evidenced by research, inflammation is the root cause of the great majority of chronic diseases such as arthritis, diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases¹⁻⁴.

The fact that the immune system and inflammatory responses are linked to a wide range of physical and mental health problems that predominate current morbidity globally and have been acknowledged as the leading cause of death in the world today—with more than half of all fatalities being linked to inflammation-related diseases like chronic kidney disease, ischemic heart disease, and neurodegenerative disorders—has been one of the most important clinical discoveries of the past 20 years.^{5,6}

In general, the immune system's main goal is to get rid of harmful or alien cells including bacteria, viruses, fungi, parasites, and damaged cells from the body. The innate and adaptive components make up the immune system. Even though each subsystem's duties for maintaining the body's integrity are distinct, they cooperate to eliminate dangerous antigens—non-self-cellular matter—from the body as quickly and

effectively as possible ⁷. However, when human disease situations arise that cause any of these immune systems to become alert, inflammation invariably sets in and plays a major role, giving rise to 2 main forms: acute and chronic inflammation⁸. A combination of innate and adaptive immune cells, stromal fibroblast matrix proteins, blood and lymphatics, and soluble molecular mediators including plasma proteins, cytokines, and chemokines are all involved in an inflammatory milieu^{9,10}. Although distinguishing between the regulated (acute) and dysregulated (chronic) forms of inflammation has been difficult, modern molecular biology methods have made this significantly more achievable and attainable¹¹.

Acute and Chronic Inflammation

As a general rule, inflammation is produced whenever the body detects "risk" in the form of infections, trauma, or ischemia events, or physical, chemical, or mechanical damage. The acute form of inflammation is the response to abrupt or severe bodily injury that attracts leukocytes, plasma proteins, and much later antibodies to the location of the lesion or infection. It lasts for a couple of days¹². Chronic inflammation develops when the activity of the different immune cells that have been recruited is protracted and persistent ¹³. This would continue to happen whether there was an outside stimulus or not for months or years. Therefore, both acute inflammation and time are major contributors to chronic inflammation.

A direct inflammatory route made up of a series of actions including inducers, sensors, mediators, and effectors constitutes the acute inflammatory response¹⁴, which is an immediate and adaptive reaction. The procedure initiates with the presence of one or more inducers, including pathogenic microorganisms, foreign substances, or signals

from necrotic cells or damaged tissues, whether they are pathogenic or not. These inducers activate specialized molecules, known as sensors, which then trigger effectors, such as tissues and cells, as well as mediators, which are endogenous compounds. The mediators can either activate or inhibit inflammation, induce pain, and trigger tissue healing¹⁵. As was previously mentioned, a variety of mediators, including toll-like receptors (TLRs) on macrophages and dendritic cells, arachidonic acid mediators on mast cells, complements C3a and C5a, and Hageman factor, start this cascade of acute inflammatory pathways in tissues. Ultimately, the specific types of immune cells and mediators involved are highly varied and depend on a range of factors, such as the type of inducing agent, the duration of the injury, and other genetic factors¹⁶.

Contrarily, chronic inflammation shares many traits with acute inflammation but often manifests as a low-grade, long-lasting condition that leads to reactions that deteriorate tissue. There are several mechanisms that could be the cause of persistent inflammation. The synthesis and release of cytokines, which can accelerate or control the inflammatory response and change the morphology of adjacent cells, could be the result of damaged non-immune cells and activated immune cells, which is frequently detrimental to proper tissue function¹⁷. Another possibility is that pathogen-killing leukocytes that have invaded tissues chronically synthesize and release reactive chemicals, eventually harming the structural and cellular components of tissues¹⁸.

In order to defend against insults brought on by a variety of substances and to maintain tissue homeostasis, various cell types are activated during the inflammatory response ¹⁹. This multifaceted response to tissue stress, injury, and infection is crucially

regulated at the level of gene transcription and is made up of a number of coordinated regulatory sets of genes that encode functionally essential aspects regulated by transcription factors, as well as a number of transcriptional co-regulators and chromatin modifications²⁰.



Figure 1: Acute inflammatory response. Reprinted with permission from AAAS [20]. Acute inflammation response to bacterial infection. Neutrophils first migrate to the site of inflammation to infiltrate the tissue, then monocyte-derived macrophages clear the pathogen and restore parenchyma.

The inflammatory response follows a carefully planned series of actions so that following the initial stimulus, there is a huge influx of inflammatory cells at the site of harm. The signals from these events changes the local profile of adhesion molecules and produces a chemotactic gradient that draws in cells from the circulation. An inflammatory response is initiated by the production of soluble mediators and chemokines from locally dwelling cells such as vascular endothelial cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and interstitial fibroblasts. The first inflammatory cells to reach the site of injury are polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs), which extravasate and migrate to the affected area. Downstream signals then recruit specialized mononuclear cells, including lymphocytes and monocytes/macrophages. Macrophages take a role in inflammatory/immune effector cell generation, mobilization, activation, and control²². Studies have also demonstrated the significance of metabolism in the inflammatory response and how the various metabolic pathways affect the inflammatory response and the fate of immune cells.

However, the inflammatory response can be divided into first and second waves based on the type of immune cell that responds. In the first wave neutrophils are the first immune cells to go to the site of inflammation during the initial inflammatory response. Neutrophils that are circulating in the blood can enter the affected tissue through leakage, which is guided by a chemokine gradient created by local cells and other chemoattractant molecules. This process is facilitated by changes in blood flow, vascular permeability, and alterations in the molecular surface expression of cells lining the channel wall²³. Macrophages are key players in the second wave of inflammation after neutrophil infiltration. As was previously stated, circulating monocytes exit the bloodstream and extravasate into the tissue, where they then undergo macrophage differentiation²⁴. The extensive variety of immune system functions performed by monocyte-derived macrophages, from phagocytic clearance of insult and cell recruitment to later aiding healing and tissue regeneration during the resolution phase of inflammation, are enhanced by their highly malleable nature and dynamic character.

Chronic Inflammation

Chronic inflammation is characterized histologically by lymphocyte and macrophage presence, vascular proliferation, fibrosis, and tissue necrosis. Chronic inflammation is a key factor in the development of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. The resolution phase, which comes after a successful inflammatory response occurs once the danger signal or the harm has been resolved, is defined as the time when the inflammatory reaction gradually shuts down. To restore homeostasis, the resolution phase is essential²⁵. In some situations, if the immune system's ability to switch between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory states is compromised, the resulting effect is chronic inflammation¹⁹.

Resolution for Chronic Inflammation

A progressive change in the inflammatory profile of macrophages towards antiinflammatory or recovery macrophages characterizes the resolution of inflammation. Failure of inflammation resolution is the primary cause of chronic inflammatory diseases including arthritis, colitis, or asthma, which are associated with irreversible tissue damage and a higher risk of developing cardiovascular disease, cancer, and osteoporosis²⁶⁻²⁸. Therefore, it follows that the resolution process is strictly regulated. Numerous molecular effectors regulate this process, such as the IGF1 pathway²⁹, the p38 MAPK regulator MKP1/DUSP1, and the transcription factors C/EBP (CEBPB) and NFIX³⁰. These anti-inflammatory macrophages have a variety of effects on neighboring cells, including stimulating myogenesis's final stages of differentiation and fusion, remaking the extracellular matrix (ECM), and promoting angiogenesis, which occurs

concurrently with myogenesis³¹. Phagocytosis of debris also aids in the resolution of inflammation, which is required to begin tissue repair and regeneration³¹.

Roles of Macrophages in Resolution of Chronic Inflammation

The inflammatory process is typically very closely controlled, involving both signals that start and keep the inflammation going, as well as signals that stop it. Unchecked inflammation leads to cellular and tissue damage and notifies the immune cells when there is an imbalance between the two signals³². Macrophages were first referred to as phagocytes since they were discovered to be engaged in the phagocytotic process that helps maintain homeostatic processes of tissue resorption and the acquisition of nutrients³³. Years of further study also revealed that macrophages played a role in cellular immune responses³⁴. They play a number of roles in the body, including the metabolism of iron, bilirubin, calcium, lipids, and amino acids among numerous other functions as reviewed by Mosser et al (2021)³⁴. This helps keep the amounts of these chemicals in the body relatively constant³²⁻³⁴. They are also referred to as transducers since they gather information from various tissues and then transmit it to regulate crucial chemical reactions for the particular operation of each organ³⁴.

The mononuclear phagocyte system is made up of cells with a similar lineage that specializes in phagocytosis. However, they perform a minimum of three main tasks, including immunomodulation, phagocytosis, and antigen presentation³⁵. In sequential processes of active cell recruitment to the site of infection, detection of microorganisms, phagocytosis, and killing of ingested bacteria, they demonstrate a general functional response role in host defense. Furthermore, they generate biologically active chemicals that play a variety of crucial roles in both innate and adaptive immune responses.

Although macrophages can have a wide range of different phenotypes, they can be generically categorized into M1-like or M2-like states based on their activation mechanisms, molecular expression, and behavioral patterns. The classically activated M1-like state is typically thought to be pro-inflammatory, whereas the alternatively activated M2-like state is typically thought to be anti-inflammatory³⁶.



Figure 2: Chronic Inflammation Reprinted with permission from AAAS [20] Chronic inflammatory reactions arise when immune cells fail to eliminate the stimuli that provoke an inflammatory response. The persistence of these stimuli amplifies the inflammatory response, preventing the resolution of inflammation and causing damage to host tissue.

Usually, M1-type macrophages exhibit significant phagocytic activity at the site of inflammation to eliminate stimuli that can influence the activity of neighboring cells and clear any debris. Additionally, these macrophages promote inflammation by stimulating the recruitment of additional immune cells to the site and generating a range of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other inflammatory mediators³⁷. When the inflammatory stimulation is resolved, the macrophage population is thought to change from expressing an M1-like phenotype to an M2-like phwenotype³⁸. By releasing antiinflammatory molecules, M2-like macrophages decrease the inflammatory response. These cells also regulate the actions of other cells, assist in tissue regeneration, and promote healing by guiding the repair process. As the damaged tissue is repaired, immune cells evacuate the area, hence promoting recovery³⁹.

Pro-inflammatory macrophages

Pro-inflammatory damage-associated macrophages, which predominantly develop from circulating monocytes, are the first to invade the wounded area. Macrophages linked to inflammatory damage produce pro-inflammatory mediators⁴⁰. Preventing or reducing the migration and adhesion of pro-inflammatory macrophages to the inflammatory site is an attractive approach for managing and preventing chronic inflammatory reactions, as these macrophages are the primary cellular component in these lesions and are also responsible for a significant amount of the damage caused by chronic inflammation. The migration and adherence of monocytes and macrophages during inflammation are primarily mediated by a critical subfamily of cell adhesion receptors known as the β 2 integrins, which are a part of the larger integrin family.



Figure 3: Leukocyte Adhesion Cascade. The image is from reference [41]. The process begins with the rolling of leukocytes along the endothelium facilitated by the interaction between selectins on the endothelial cells and their ligands on the leukocytes. This is followed by firm adhesion, as the leukocytes bind tightly to the endothelial cells through the integrins on their surface. The leukocytes then undergo transmigration, across the endothelium and into the site of infection or injury. Finally, the leukocytes migrate toward the source of chemoattractants, such as bacterial or viral antigens, cytokines, or chemokines, to initiate the immune response.

The Integrin Family

The transmembrane cell adhesion molecules known as integrins are heterodimeric and composed of an alpha (α) and a beta (β) subunit organized in various dimeric combinations. Diverse extracellular ligands are more or less attractive to these complexes. Integrins are vital for various biological processes, including cell proliferation, migration, apoptosis, tissue healing, inflammation, infection, and angiogenesis. These receptors are widely distributed and exist in various forms that can bind to numerous ligands. Integrins regulate cellular development, proliferation, migration, signaling, cytokine activation, and release. They play a critical role in maintaining homeostasis and signaling by facilitating interactions between cells and the (ECM).

In terms of ligand specificity, integrins can be divided into four groups: those that bind collagen (integrins $\alpha 1\beta 1$, $\alpha 2\beta 1$, $\alpha 10\beta 1$, and $\alpha 11\beta 1$), those that recognize the RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) peptide motif (integrins $\alpha 5\beta 1$, $\alpha V\beta 1$, $\alpha V\beta 3$, $\alpha V\beta 5$, $\alpha V\beta 6$, $\alpha V\beta 8$, and $\alpha Ilb\beta 3$), those that bind laminin ($\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$, and $\alpha 6\beta 4$), and those that are expressed exclusively on leukocytes ($\alpha L\beta 2$, $\alpha M\beta 2$, $\alpha X\beta 2$, and $\alpha D\beta 2$). Leukocyte function-associated antigen-1, Mac1/CR3 (macrophage-1 antigen, complement receptor 3), 150.95/CR4 (complement receptor 4), and CD18/CD11d, respectively, are formed when the $\beta 2$ integrin subunit (CD18) pairs with one of the four subunits (αL , αM , αX , and αD). Most leukocytes express αL , while myeloid cells primarily express αM , αX , and αD



Figure 4: The Integrin Family. Integrins, a family of transmembrane proteins, are categorized into four groups based on their ligand specificity. The first group includes integrins $\alpha 1\beta 1$, $\alpha 2\beta 1$, $\alpha 10\beta 1$, and $\alpha 11\beta 1$, which recognize collagen. The second group includes integrins $\alpha 5\beta 1$, $\alpha V\beta 1$, $\alpha V\beta 3$, $\alpha V\beta 5$, $\alpha V\beta 6$, $\alpha V\beta 8$, and $\alpha IIb\beta 3$, which recognize the RGD motif. The third group includes integrins $\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$, and $\alpha 6\beta 4$, which bind laminin. The fourth group includes integrins $\alpha L\beta 2$, $\alpha M\beta 2$, $\alpha X\beta 2$, and $\alpha D\beta 2$, which are expressed exclusively on leukocytes.

Integrin Structure

The structures of integrins are critical for their proper function in normal physiology, including the maintenance of tissue and organ structure, developmental processes, and wound healing. Additionally, integrin-dependent adhesion complexes play a role in the development of diseases such as cancer. Evidence suggests that certain integrins interact with receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), leading to the activation of signaling pathways necessary for tumor invasion and metastasis. Specifically, integrin signals facilitate cancer cell detachment from neighboring cells, reorientation of polarity during migration, and survival and proliferation in unfamiliar microenvironments⁴³. Integrins are made up of numerous proteins that can be thought of as serving three different purposes: structure, signaling, and control of the integrin adhesion complexes. For example, Arf GTPase-activating proteins (Arf GAPs), members of the GTPase family, were discovered in this complex and carry out all three of these tasks, demonstrating the impact of their various roles in regulating the formation, maturation, and dissolution of integrin adhesion complexes⁴⁴.

The integrin family comprises 24 heterodimeric transmembrane adhesion receptors and cell-surface proteins, consisting of $\alpha\beta$ pairs that form the structure. These non-covalent connections involve α and β subunits, and it is known that these pairs involve 18 α and 8 β subunits⁴⁵. The integrin subunit $\alpha\beta$ pairings control intracellular adhesion complex formation, control downstream signaling, and determine the specificity of the integrin to a given ligand. It is noteworthy that the first two integrins to be recognized, namely lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (integrin $\alpha L\beta 2$) and macrophage antigen 1 (integrin $\alpha M\beta 2$), obtain their specificity from specific α subunits, but they both share the same β subunit⁴⁶.



Figure 5: Integrin Structure. The integrin molecule consists of two subunits, α and β , each with a large extracellular domain that contains ligand-binding sites, a transmembrane domain, and a short cytoplasmic tail. The α and β subunits interact through noncovalent bonds to form a heterodimeric complex. The extracellular domain contains a head region composed of two subdomains, the β -propeller and the α/β I domains, and a leg region that connects the head to the transmembrane domain.

<u>α Subunit.</u> The α subunit of integrin consists of several domains that form the leg structure supporting the integrin head. This includes a seven-bladed propeller, a thigh, a calf-1 domain, and a calf-2 domain. The final few propeller blades at the lower side away from the ligand-binding surface have EF-hand domains that bind to Ca²⁺. Notably, nine of the integrin α chains possess an I-domain, which is a 200 amino acid domain present in the integrin α subunits⁴⁷. When present on an integrin, the I-domain is an

exclusive ligand-binding site. The α I-domain, found on integrins, serves as a unique ligand-binding site. Integrins containing the α I-domain interact with various ligands due to their 13 extracellular domains distributed across the two subunits.

<u>β Subunit.</u> The β subunit of integrin consists of several domains, including four cysteine-rich epidermal growth factor (EGF) repeats, a hybrid domain, a plexinsemaphorin-integrin (PSI) domain, and a βI-domain⁴⁸. Apart from some variation found in the β4 tail, which has roughly 1000 amino acids, it generally contains a cytoplasmic tail that is 75 amino acids long⁴⁹. Although the α subunit of each integrin determines ligand specificity, the β chain plays a crucial role in binding to acidic residues in intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) and cytoplasmic adapters which promote cellular adhesion with the ECM. Integrins interact with the actin cytoskeleton through talin- and kindlin-binding motifs in the cytoplasmic regions of their subunits via these adapters⁵⁰.

However, there is a lengthy list of integrin ligands, and these include several of the main components of the ECM⁵¹. Integrins are expressed on cell surfaces, often with a bending, closed headpiece in a low-affinity conformation. Both extracellular and intracellular signaling can activate high-affinity binding and intracellular signal transduction. They are expressed in immune cells and participate in the molecular mechanisms of inflammatory reactions and diseases as a result of their wide range of functions⁵².

Beta2 (β2) integrins

Leukocytes are the sole cells that express β 2 integrins. The corresponding β 2 integrin's specific functional characteristics are defined by the

corresponding α subunit, but functional redundancy is present in all β2 integrins. They coordinate the uptake of external substances including complement-opsonized pathogens, facilitate adherence to neighboring cells and to elements of the ECM, regulate cytoskeletal architecture, and regulate cell signaling⁵³. They are also necessary for the movement of leukocytes and other immunological activities such as neutrophil phagocytosis, the formation of ROS, and the activation of T cells⁵⁴.

These integrins are activated by inflammatory cytokines during inflammation and encourage cellular adhesion to antagonistic receptors like ICAMs, which facilitate phagocytosis and cytotoxic death. Inflammation causes platelet antigens like glycoprotein Iba (GPIba) and integrin receptors on leukocytes like the macrophage-1 antigen ($\alpha M\beta 2$) to interact with each other. Transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta 1$'s prodomain is where integrins bind to activate and encourage the release of the protein. The transcription of modulatory family member MRFT-A (myocardin-related transcription factor-A) has been reported to be crucial in cardiac inflammation. Although its absence does not manifest any obvious cardiac problems in the null mice, they were protected from a variety of cardiovascular illnesses^{55,56}. Studies by Weng et al (2015) and Liu et al (2018) also demonstrate that it controls inflammation and leads to ROS generation in macrophages^{57,58}, potentially by enlisting the KDM3A epigenetic machinery and stimulating the transcription of the integrin $\beta 2$ to mediate macrophage adherence to the vascular endothelia, therefore boosting cardiac inflammation⁵⁹. Furthermore, when a blocking antibody was employed, this effect was diminished. It was also shown that activated neutrophils release ROS that alter the ECM by forming CEP adducts, which act as migratory and sticky ligands for macrophage integrins, notably integrin $\beta 2$.

Integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$. The most recent member of the $\beta 2$ subfamily to be identified is integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ (CD11d/CD18), which is notably ubiquitously expressed on inflammatory macrophages⁶⁰. It, like the other $\beta 2$ integrins, has a common $\beta 2$ subunit and distinct, though homologous, α subunits. In comparison to the other members of the subfamily, it demonstrates multiligand binding properties, has superior recognition specificity, and enables cell adhesion to a variety of ECM proteins, including fibronectin, vitronectin, fibrinogen and CCN1 (Cyr61)^{60,61}. One very important role of $\alpha D\beta 2$ (CD11d/CD18) that was recently revealed in atherosclerosis and diabetes is its ability to cause proinflammatory macrophages to adhere strongly to the oxidatively damaged ECM, allowing them to remain at the site of persistent inflammation⁶². Although little is known about its role in monocyte and macrophage migration, investigations have revealed that it has a role in infection and inflammatory responses in a variety of clinical diseases⁶³.

DHA Oxidation during inflammation (CEP formation)

Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is an omega-3 (n-3) fatty acid with a lengthy acyl chain and a high level of unsaturation. Its acyl chain contains 22 carbons and six double bonds giving its unique physical and functional properties⁶⁴. It is crucial for infant brain growth and functional development. For adult brains to continue functioning normally, DHA is also necessary. DHA deficiency is linked to learning difficulties, whereas consuming plenty of DHA in the diet boosts learning capacity⁶⁵. It is found in cold water and fatty fish, such as salmon and tuna. Along with eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), it is also present in fish oil supplements. They also play significant roles in human health and disease by acting as ligands for a variety of receptors, lipid mediator precursors, and membrane glycerophospholipid components (GPLs)⁶⁶. Polyunsaturated fatty acids

(PUFA) may be oxidized by reactive oxygen species produced at the site of inflammation, which may result in ECM protein modifications that are macrophage-specific ligands that lead to enhanced inflammation. They are widely available as oxidation substrates and are found in both food sources and cellular membranes. Studies have demonstrated that the oxidation of PUFAs results in a variety of biological activities through its released end products^{66,67}.

Recently, it was shown that 2-(ω -carboxyethyl) pyrrole (CEP), the by-product of DHA oxidation, is a specific ligand for integrins α D β 2 and α M β 2 at the site of chronic inflammation. This oxidation leads to the generation of CEP adducts with neighboring (ECM) proteins⁶⁸. These CEP-modified proteins aid in the migration of macrophages mediated by the α M β 2- and α D β 2 receptors to the location of the inflammation. CEP is predominantly produced during inflammation, and in individuals with diabetes, it is widely present in adipose tissue and atherosclerotic plaques⁶⁹. Therefore, it was anticipated that CEP could serve as a vital ligand for the retention of α D β 2-mediated macrophages. According to a recent theory put forth by Yakubenko et al., during the first wave of inflammation, the oxidative damage produced by neutrophils greatly contributes to the synthesis of CEP and its addition to nearby extracellular matrix components.

How therefore can these contacts be broken down in order to provide a therapeutic effect and accelerate resolution for inflammation, given how much of this $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP-mediated macrophage interaction contributes to inflammation? Research was initiated to find particular inhibitors of the $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interaction that can reduce the

retention of macrophages during inflammation. Using a specially created peptide library, a sequence (known as P5 peptide) was found. This P5 peptide effectively and precisely inhibited α D–CEP binding. P5 peptide was administered to WT mice on a high-fat diet. It blocked the build-up of macrophages in adipose tissue in a way that was α D β 2-dependent⁷⁰.

The group of 2-(ω -carboxyalkyl) pyrrole adducts known as CAP protein adducts are generated via the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)⁷¹. As such, linoleic acid or arachidonic acid undergoes oxidative fragmentation, producing 9-hydroxy-12-oxododec-10-enoic acid (HODA) or 5-hydroxy-8-oxooct-6-enoic acid (HOOA), respectively. These acids subsequently react with protein to form 2-(ω -carboxyheptyl) pyrrole (CHP) or 2-(ω -carboxypropyl) pyrrole (CPP) adducts. Since these protein adducts can also form from other commonly occurring PUFAs, the presence of CPP or CHP does not exclusively indicate the oxidative damage caused by linoleic, arachidonic, or their esters. However, only DHA generates 2-(ω -carboxyethyl) pyrrole (CEP) adducts by the oxidative cleavage of 4-hydroxy-7-oxohept-5-enoic acid (HOHA), followed by the interaction of this acid with protein. HOHA-PC is a minor oxidative product of DHA-PC that can create peptide-bound CEP adducts, as previously demonstrated⁷².



Figure 6: Schematic representation of CEP formation. Reprinted with permission from Casteel et al. The figure depicts the formation of CEP (2-(ω -carboxyethyl) pyrrole) from 4-hydroxy-2-hexenal (HOHA) through a series of reactions. HOHA is generated from the oxidation of omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and reacts with primary amines to form Michael adducts. These adducts undergo further oxidation and cyclization reactions to form CEP.

<u>Role of CEP- $\alpha_D\beta_2$ </u> Interaction in inflammation

These small by-product CEP molecules have been linked to the stimulation of angiogenesis under pathological circumstances such as during tissue ischemia. Although they are diversely associated with inflammation, developing proangiogenic treatments or medications may be possible using these protein adducts⁷³. As was previously mentioned, CEP production is significantly increased in inflamed tissue, and CEP-modified albumin and fibrinogen were found to bind to the α D β 2 and α M β 2 integrins. Can these CEP-modified ECM proteins have a significant impact on the adhesion abilities of M1-polarized macrophages during chronic inflammation? Casteel et al. (2022) used in vitro oxidation assays and digested atherosclerotic lesions in a

study. They showed that CEP created by DHA oxidation formed adducts with ECM proteins such as collagen IV, fibrinogen, and laminin. Collagen I was the one exception. But what functional distinctions exist between fibrinogen altered by the CEP ligand from DHA oxidation and the normal unmodified fibrinogen that would alter the interaction with the integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$? The same study discovered that CEP-modified proteins facilitated higher cell adhesion and spreading when compared to native ECM ligands like collagen IV, laminin, and fibrinogen. Additionally, compared to the native fibrinogen ligand, the isolated α I-domain had a greater binding affinity to CEP. By switching a positively charged lysine to a negatively charged CEP, CEP modification transforms ECM proteins into α D-recognition ligands. This boosts M1 macrophage adherence to ECM and encourages macrophage retention during harmful inflammation, autoimmunity, and chronic inflammation⁷⁴.

Inflammation-related changes in the ECM frequently involve fibrinogen, a natural integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ ligand. It has been demonstrated that CEP alteration dramatically enhances fibrinogen's ability to adhere to $\alpha D\beta 2$ -HEK293 transfected cells. Different proteins that have undergone CEP alteration have enhanced cell adhesion capabilities. However, prior research has indicated that for fibrinogen, cell adhesion can only be accomplished at a maximum concentration of 2-3 g/ml and that it is greatly diminished at greater concentrations⁷⁵. The difference in the binding of integrin αD to CEP-modified and unaltered fibrinogen was assessed using biolayer interferometry. It was discovered that the αD interaction with unmodified fibrinogen was weaker than the αD binding to CEP-modified fibrinogen by a factor of two. Due to a larger affinity caused by a negative charge on a carboxyl group in the structure of CEP, $\alpha D\beta 2$ produces a stronger adhesion

to proteins that have been modified by CEP. According to this finding, CEP-modified ECM proteins play an important role in macrophage adherence by producing robust $\alpha D\beta 2$ -dependent adhesion via CEP, which may be essential for macrophage retention⁷⁵.

Aims and Hypothesis

The goal of this project is to examine and compare the binding properties of $\alpha D\beta 2$ integrin to fibrinogen, a native ECM protein, as well as fibrinogen that was CEPmodified. This comparison will assist in further clarifying the role of the CEP product from DHA oxidation in chronic inflammation and inflammatory diseases. We hypothesize that the interaction between integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ and fibrinogen-CEP, fibrinogen modified by the DHA oxidation product, will be stronger than its interaction with unmodified fibrinogen and that this increased binding may contribute to macrophage retention at sites of inflammation.

CHAPTER 2. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Experimental Design Workflow



Protein Expression

Plasmid Construct

The Pet-28a expression vector was utilized to enable the insertion of the DNA sequence for the active form of the I-domain of recombinant human integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ at the NdeI and XhoI restriction sites. Transcription was carried out by the T7 polymerase binding the T7 promoter present in the expression vector. The expression of the recombinant αD I-domain sequence was controlled by the lac repressor (IPTG-inducible), and resistance to the antibiotic kanamycin was provided by a gene in the vector. The desired protein was isolated and purified by growing the *E. coli* cells that had taken up the vector and expressed the recombinant protein in the presence of kanamycin.

DNA Isolation

Qiagen's QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Catalog # 27104) was utilized to isolate the DNA. Firstly, an overnight culture of *E. coli* was grown in a 37^{0} C shaker, after which the culture was subjected to centrifugation at room temperature for 3 minutes at 8,000 rpm to spin out the bacterial pellet. The pellet was resuspended in 250 µL of buffer P1 and mixed with 250 µL of buffer P2. Thereafter, 350 µL of buffer N3 was added to the suspension, and it was resuspended. The suspension was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 13,000 rpm. The supernatant was collected and transferred to a QIAprep 2.0 spin column, and it was then spun for 1 minute. The column was washed with 750 µL of buffer PE, spun again for 1 minute, and then spun for another 1 minute to remove any remaining wash buffer. The spin column was then moved to a new microcentrifuge tube,

and 50 µL of buffer EB was added to elute the DNA. The column was left to stand for one minute and then centrifuged for another 1 minute. Finally, the concentration of the DNA was measured using a Synergy H1 hybrid multi-mode microplate reader.

BL21 Cell Transformation

The transformation of BL21(DE3) competent cells was carried out following the instructions provided by Agilent Technologies (Catalog #200133). Initially, the BL21 competent cells were thawed on ice for 30 minutes, and then 50 ng of ligated $\alpha D\beta 2$ DNA was added to the cells. The reaction was left on ice for 30 minutes. While waiting, the SOC medium was heated in a 37 °C water bath. The transformation reaction was briefly heated in a 42 °C water bath for 45 seconds and then cooled on ice for 2 minutes. The preheated SOC medium was added to the reaction and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour with shaking at 225 rpm. The cells were then plated onto an LB agar containing 100 µg/mL kanamycin using a sterile spreader. The plate was incubated overnight at 37 °C to allow for colony formation.

Bacteria Cell Culture

From an LB agar plate that had been incubated overnight, a single colony was selected. The colony was transferred to a centrifuge tube containing 3 mL of TB media with 100 μ g/mL kanamycin (0.1%). The cells were then grown for 7-9 hours at 37 °C with intensive shaking at 225 rpm. Following this, 100 μ L of the culture was used to inoculate 100 mL of TB media with 100 μ g/mL kanamycin, and the cells were cultured overnight at 37 °C with shaking at 225 rpm. The 100 mL culture grown overnight was then scaled up to 2 liters by adding 1.9 L of autoclaved TB media with 100 μ g/mL kanamycin. The 2-liter culture was then equally divided into 4 flasks using sterile

techniques. Finally, the 4 flasks were cultured at 37 $^{\circ}$ C with shaking for 1.5 – 2 hours until the optical density reached 0.9 – 1.0, indicating the optimal growth condition of the cells.

IPTG-Induced Protein Expression

The initiation of recombinant protein α D β 2 expression was carried out by adding isopropyl β -d-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) to the bacterial cell culture, with a final concentration of 1 mM. This was achieved by adding 0.5 mL of IPTG to each of the 4 flasks, each containing 500 mL of cell culture. IPTG was added to bind to the lac operon's repressor protein, causing the release of control from the T7 promoter, and allowing for the expression of the recombinant protein. The culture was then grown for an additional 4 hours at 25 °C with shaking at 225 rpm. The culture was then transferred to 4 different 500 mL tubes for the next step of harvesting.



Figure 7: Protein expression from bacterial culture. This figure shows the process of protein expression from bacterial culture. The bacterial cells were initially grown in

culture, and the expression of the recombinant protein was initiated by adding IPTG to the culture at a final concentration of 1 mM. The lysed cell was then purified using Ni-NTA column affinity chromatography to isolate the recombinant protein of interest. The purity and quantity of the purified protein were then analyzed using SDS-PAGE and BCA assay, respectively.

<u>αD I-domain Protein Isolation</u>

Bacterial Cell Lysis by Sonication

The harvesting of cells was carried out by centrifugation for 20 minutes at a temperature of 42 $^{\circ}$ C and a speed of 6,000 rpm. The centrifugation process resulted in the cells being collected in the form of a pellet, and the supernatant was discarded. The bacterial cell pellet was then resuspended in PBS buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 to break down the cell membrane and release the intracellular components. The bacterial cell pellet lysate was then frozen overnight at -80 $^{\circ}$ C. The following day, the cell was thawed using a water bath, and the cell lysate was placed on ice and sonicated three times to disrupt the chromatin. The tube was allowed to rest for 2 minutes in between each sonication. The sonicated lysate was then subjected to centrifugation at 15000 rpm at 42 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 minutes. The supernatant, which contained the αD I-domain protein, was filtered through a 0.8 µm syringe, and the pellet was discarded. This step was necessary to remove any remaining cell debris or unbroken cells and to purify the recombinant protein of interest.

Protein Isolation by Ni-NTA Column Chromatography

The isolation of the αD I-domain protein was accomplished by utilizing Ni-NTA Column Affinity Chromatography. This technique utilizes a column filled with Ni-NTA

agarose beads specifically designed to bind to histidine tags, commonly used as protein purification tags. The first step involved stabilizing the protein and blocking non-specific binding by adding imidazole and NaCl to the supernatant, reaching a final concentration of 10 mM imidazole and 300 mM NaCl. After that, the protein-containing supernatant was mixed with HisPur Ni-NTA Superflow Agarose (Thermo Scientific) at 4 °C for 1 hour while being gently shaken. The mixture was then centrifuged at 4°C and 1200 rpm for 10 minutes, and the bottom layer containing the protein bound to Ni-NTA agarose was collected and transferred to a column (Bio-Rad Laboratories) for isolation. The column was washed with increasing concentrations of imidazole 20mM, 60mM, and 80mM until the eluent reached an optical density of less than 0.1, 0.05, and 0.01, respectively. The protein was then eluted with 200mM imidazole and collected into 5 separate 1 mL samples. The protein concentration in each sample was measured using a spectrometer (BioTek Instruments). The samples with the highest protein concentration were collected for further purification by dialysis. This method efficiently purified the target protein while effectively removing any impurities or unwanted proteins.

Protein Dialysis

The purified protein samples were combined and placed into Fisherbrand dialysis tubing (# 21-152-10). Dialysis is a process used to remove small molecules and ions to refine the protein sample. The proteins were dialyzed in three stages. Initially, they were dialyzed in 500 mL PBS buffer with 1M NaCl at 4 °C for 30 minutes with mild shaking. This step is known as buffer exchange and helps to remove any remaining impurities from the previous buffer while also bringing the protein solution to the best physiological condition. Next, the proteins were moved to 500 mL PBS buffer with 500 mM NaCl at 4

°C and left overnight with mild agitation. The following morning, the proteins were dialyzed in 500 mL of 20mM Hepes buffer with 150mM NaCl at 4 °C for 4 hours with mild agitation. The final buffer was chosen based on the protein's biological activity and stability. In this case, the 20 mM Hepes buffer with 150 mM NaCl is a commonly used buffer for protein storage and downstream applications. The protein was collected and aliquoted in 200 μ L, and the protein concentration was measured using a spectrophotometer (Synergy H1 hybrid multi-mode microplate reader, BioTek Instruments).

Protein Analysis

Protein Quantification by SDS-PAGE

The protein samples of interest were prepared by mixing them with SDS sample buffer (24 µL sample, 6 µL SDS sample buffer) and heating the mixture at 95 °C for 5 minutes to denature the proteins. The protein standard was loaded onto a separate lane of the SDS-PAGE gel, and the gel was run using the SDS-PAGE running buffer according to standard protocols. The gel was stained with Coomassie blue staining solution for 30 minutes to visualize the separated protein bands. The gel was then destained with a destaining solution to remove excess Coomassie blue. Finally, the gel was imaged using a gel imaging system (G Box). The intensity of the protein bands from the samples of interest was compared to the protein standard curve to determine the concentration of each protein in the samples. The accuracy of protein quantification using SDS-PAGE was affected by various factors, including the efficiency of protein extraction, the quality of the sample preparation, and the variability in protein binding to the Coomassie blue dye.

Protein Quantification by Bradford Assay

The protein quantification method using the Bradford assay was carried out. Protein samples were used to quantify protein concentrations by comparing the absorbance values to a standard curve generated from known concentrations of BSA (bovine serum albumin). The Bradford reagent was used to bind to the protein in the samples and produce a color change that was measured using a spectrophotometer. The protein samples were prepared by diluting them to a suitable concentration, and aliquots of the diluted samples were transferred to a 96-well microplate. Standards of known BSA concentrations were also prepared in the same way. The Bradford reagent was added to each well of the microplate, and the plate was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes.

The absorbance values of the protein samples and standards were measured using a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 595 nm. The absorbance values were then compared to the standard curve to determine the protein concentration in each sample. The accuracy of protein quantification using the Bradford assay was affected by various factors, including the quality of the Bradford reagent, the accuracy of the spectrophotometer measurements, and the interference from other substances in the samples.

Kinetic Characterization of Protein Interactions by Biolayer Interferometry

The ForteBio K2 Octet System was used to analyze the binding interactions of wild-type αD I-domain protein to several ligands through surface plasmon resonance assays.

Biolayer Interferometry Assay

The interactions between proteins and various ligands were examined using The Amine Reactive (ARG2) ForteBio biosensor. The biosensors were prepared by removing the protective coating through immersion in a buffer solution containing 150 mM Nacl, 20 mM Hepes, 1 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM CaCl₂, and 0.02% Tween. Activation of the biosensors was achieved by utilizing N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide (NHS) and (EDC) 1-Ethyl-3-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)carbodiimide. The optimal pH for each ligand was determined, and the ligands were then immobilized on the activated biosensor surface. Any remaining unreacted sites on the biosensor were quenched with 1 M ethanolamine. The experiment was performed according to the manufacturer's guidelines, where the biosensor was first immersed in water for 10 minutes and then in a buffer solution containing HEPES, NaCl, MgCl₂, and CaCl₂. The tested proteins were diluted to appropriate levels in a buffer solution with HEPES, NaCl, CaCl₂, MgCl₂, and Tween 20 detergent. The data were recorded and analyzed.

Cell Adhesion

Cell Culture

The αDβ2-transfected human embryonic kidney 293 cells were cultured in DMEM-F12 medium, supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM glutamine, 15 mM HEPES, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin, and 0.1 unit/mL penicillin. The cells were maintained in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO₂. The culture medium was changed second day. The cells were passaged once they reached 80% confluency. To passage the cells, the culture medium was removed, and the cells were washed with PBS. The cells

were then detached using cell dissociation buffer (Gibco) and resuspended in a fresh medium.

Cell Adhesion Assay

100 ul of fibrinogen-CEP and fibrinogen were coated onto 96-well plates (Immulon, 4HBX, Cambridge, MA) and incubated for 3 hours at 37 °C. Subsequently, the wells were blocked for non-specific binding by post-coating with 200 µL of 0.5% Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) for 1 hour at 37 °C. HEK293 cells that had been transfected and were in DMEM/F-12 were collected, counted, and stained using 10 mM calcein and incubated for 30 minutes at 37 °C. The cells were then washed with PBS and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 8 minutes. The supernatant was discarded while the pellet containing the cells was resuspended and diluted to 1×10^{6} /mL in HBSS. The plate was washed three times using PBS and then 50 µL of the cell mixture was added to each well and subsequently incubated for 30 minutes at 37 °C. An additional step was added for the polyglutamic acid inhibition of α D β 2 adhesion to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP. Varying concentrations of the polyglutamic acid were added to the cells and incubated for 15 minutes at 37 °C. The fluorescence was measured using a Synergy H1 microplate reader The cells were then washed again by adding 200 µL of PBS to each well. The fluorescence was measured again and the data were used to determine the number of adherent cells to each ligand.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

Protein Isolation and Purification

To obtain a high yield of the protein, it is important to find the optimal conditions for its expression. To achieve this, an experiment was conducted to optimize the expression of α D I-domain protein using different concentrations of IPTG, temperature, and incubation time. The E. coli BL21(DE3) strain containing the plasmid for α D Idomain protein was used for this experiment. Eight different conditions were tested, including 0.5 mM IPTG at 25 °C with 4 hours of shaking, 0.5 mM IPTG at 25 °C with overnight shaking, 1 mM IPTG at 25 °C with 4 hours of shaking, 1 mM IPTG at 25 °C with overnight shaking, 0.5 mM IPTG at 37 °C with 4 hours shaking, 0.5 mM IPTG at 37 °C with overnight shaking, 1 mM IPTG at 37 °C with 4 hours shaking, and 1 mM IPTG at 37°C with overnight shaking.

For each condition, a 5 mL culture of *E. coli* was grown in LB media supplemented with the appropriate concentration of IPTG. The cultures were incubated at the designated temperature with either 4 hours or overnight shaking. After incubation, the cells were harvested and lysed using a lysis buffer. The lysate was then centrifuged to remove cell debris, and the supernatant was collected for SDS-PAGE analysis.



Figure 8: SDS-PAGE: αDβ2 I-domain Protein Expression under different conditions. Lane 1: molecular weight marker, Lane 2: 0.5 mM IPTG at 37 °C with 4 hours shaking, Lane 3: 0.5 mM IPTG at 37°C with overnight shaking, Lane 4: 1 mM IPTG at 37 °C with 4 hours shaking, Lane 5: 1 mM IPTG at 37 °C with overnight shaking, Lane 6: 0.5 mM IPTG at 25 °C with overnight shaking, Lane 7: 0.5 mM IPTG at 25 °C with 4 hours shaking, Lane 8: 1 mM IPTG at 25 °C with 4 hours shaking.

All eight conditions were tested, and the results showed that 1 mM IPTG at 25°C with 4 hours of shaking gave the best expression of the α D I-domain protein. The protein was observed at approximately 21 kDa, which is the expected size of the protein.

A plasmid construct containing the active form of integrin α D I-domain was created by inserting it into the Pet-28a vector. This construct was then used to transform BL21 *E.coli* cells, which were grown and scaled up to 2 liters before protein expression was induced using IPTG. Ni-NTA affinity column chromatography (Ni-chelating agarose resin) was used to isolate and purify the expressed protein. The protein was further purified using 3-phase buffer dialysis. The final phase ensured the protein was in the appropriate buffer for protein-protein binding assays to test its interactions with fibrinogen and CEP-modified fibrinogen. The purity and quality of the purified protein were evaluated using 15% acrylamide electrophoresis gel, as depicted in Figure 1.



Figure 9: SDS-PAGE analysis of purified wild type αD I-domain protein.

The concentration of the purified protein was determined to be 135.2 μ g/mL with Bradford assay, as shown below.



Figure 10: Bradford Assay (BCA) graph for determining α D I-domain protein concentration.

The absorbance of the dye-protein complex is measured, and the concentration of protein in the sample was determined by comparing the absorbance to a standard curve of known protein concentrations from the BCA kit.

<u>aDβ2 Purified I-Domain Demonstrated Stronger Binding to Fibrinogen-CEP than</u>

<u>Fibrinogen</u>

The binding interaction between the expressed I-domain protein to natural ligand fibrinogen and CEP-modified fibrinogen was assayed at four different concentrations, 17.5 nM, 64.4 nM, 161 nM, and 320 nM, using the ForteBio Octet K2 bio-layer interferometry (BLI) system. Biotinylated fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP were immobilized at pH 5.0 and pH 3.5 respectively. The kinetic protein-protein interaction between α D I-domain and the two ligands was measured in real-time.



Figure 11: α D I-Domain Binding to Fibrinogen. A representative ForteBio Octet proteinprotein assay sensorgram was generated to analyze the interaction between α D β 2 Idomain and fibrinogen, which served as the immobilized ligand on a streptavidin biosensor. The sensorgram showed that the association of the I-domain with fibrinogen occurred from Time 0 to 180 seconds, followed by dissociation of the complex until 360 seconds.

As shown in figure above, the ForteBio Octet protein-protein interaction experiment for $\alpha D\beta 2$ and fibrinogen indicate that the purified αD I-domain exhibited concentration-dependent binding to immobilized fibrinogen at pH 5.0. Specifically, the response units increased with increasing concentrations of αD I-domain, with values of 0.04, 0.13, 0.18, and 0.23 observed for concentrations of 17.5 nM, 64.4 nM, 161 nM, and 320 nM, respectively.



Figure 12: $\alpha D\beta 2$ I-domain binding to Fibrinogen-CEP. A representative ForteBio Octet protein-protein assay sensorgram was generated to analyze the interaction between αD I-domain and fibrinogen-CEP, which served as the immobilized ligand on a streptavidin biosensor. The sensorgram showed that the association of the I-domain with fibrinogen-CEP occurred from Time 0 to 180 seconds, followed by dissociation of the complex until 360 seconds.

As shown above, the purified α D I-domain exhibited concentration-dependent binding to immobilized fibrinogen-CEP at pH 3.5. The response units increased with increasing concentrations of α D I-domain, with values of 0.16, 0.26, 0.33, and 0.69 observed for concentrations of 17.5 nM, 64.4 nM, 161 nM, and 320 nM, respectively.



Figure 13: αD I-domain binding to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP at 320 nM concentration. The sensorgram showed that the association of the I-domain with fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP occurred from Time 0 to 180 seconds, followed by dissociation of the complex until 360 seconds.

The results of the graph comparing αD I-domain binding to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP at the highest concentration tested (320 nM) demonstrate that αDb2 Idomain exhibits stronger binding to fibrinogen-CEP than to fibrinogen. Specifically, the response unit value for fibrinogen was 0.23, while the response unit value for fibrinogen-CEP was 0.69.



Figure 14: Steady state analysis of the interaction between $\alpha D\beta 2$ and (A) fibrinogen or (B) fibrinogen-CEP.

Based on the steady state analysis data provided, the interaction of α D I-domain with fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP was compared. A global fitting 1:1 model was used to obtain the results. For the interaction of α D I-domain with fibrinogen, the chi-square value was 0.0023, the R square value was 0.8536, the R max value was 0.2326, and the dissociation constant (Kd(M)) value was 4.6 × 10⁻⁸ M while the interaction of α D I-domain with fibrinogen-CEP, the chi-square value was 0.0065, the R square value was 0.6716, the R max value was 0.3022, and the dissociation constant (Kd(M)) value was 1.7 × 10⁻⁸ M. This suggest that the interaction of α D β 2 I-domain with fibrinogen-CEP is stronger than with fibrinogen. This is indicated by the lower Kd value (1.7 × 10⁻⁸ M) for fibrinogen-CEP compared to fibrinogen (4.6 × 10⁻⁸ M). Additionally, the R max value for fibrinogen-CEP (0.3022) was higher than for fibrinogen (0.2326), indicating a higher binding capacity.

Anti-CEP antibody dramatically reduced the binding of $\alpha D\beta 2$ l-domain to



fibrinogen-CEP

Figure 15. Inhibition of α D I-domain binding to fibrinogen-CEP by anti-CEP antibody. The figure depicts the inhibitory effect of anti-CEP antibody on the binding of α D β 2 Idomain to fibrinogen-CEP. The experiment was performed by pre-incubating different concentrations of anti-CEP antibody (0 µg/mL, 10 µg/mL, 25 µg/mL, and 50 µg/mL) with fibrinogen-CEP coated biosensors before exposing them to α D β 2 I-domain at a concentration of 320 nM. The binding response was measured using BLI and compared to the binding response of α D I-domain to fibrinogen-CEP without pre-incubation with the antibody. The results show that the binding of α D I-domain to fibrinogen-CEP is significantly inhibited by the presence of anti-CEP antibody in a concentrationdependent manner. The maximum inhibition was observed at the highest concentration of the antibody (50 µg/mL) which completely inhibited the association.

<u>αDβ2-Transfected HEK293 cells demonstrated higher adhesion to fibrinogen-</u>



CEP than fibrinogen

Figure 16:Adhesion of $\alpha D\beta$ 2-transfected HEK293 cells to fibrinogen and fibrinogen-CEP(A) at optimal concentrations (B). The adhesion assay was performed three times and the results were plotted as mean values ± standard deviation.

The concentrations of ligands used were 1 μ g/mL, 2 μ g/mL, 4 μ g/mL, and 8 μ g/mL. The adhesion of α D β 2 to fibrinogen-CEP was found to be stronger than fibrinogen in a dosage-dependent manner, with adhesion to fibrinogen-CEP reaching saturation at 4 μ g/mL. In contrast, α D β 2 adhesion to fibrinogen returned to 0% at 4 μ g/mL.

Polyglutamic acid markedly decreased the adhesion of $\alpha D\beta 2$ transfected cells

to fibrinogen-CEP

Α

CEP Dipeptide



Figure 17: Chemical structures of (A) 2-(ω -carboxyethyl) pyrrole (CEP) and (B) polyglutamic acid.

Polyglutamic acid salt was used to inhibit fibrinogen-CEP binding because it contains multiple negatively charged carboxyl groups which can interact with positively charged amino acids on the integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ receptor. This interaction creates a charge-charge repulsion that reduces or prevents the binding of fibrinogen-CEP to the $\alpha D\beta 2$ receptor. This mechanism of action is like that of other negatively charged molecules, such as heparin or sulfated polysaccharides, which have been shown to inhibit integrin-mediated cell adhesion by electrostatic repulsion. In addition to its electrostatic properties, polyglutamic acid has been shown to mimic the structure of CEP in some cases, potentially competing with CEP for binding to the integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ receptor. This suggests that polyglutamic acid may also interfere with integrin binding to CEP by steric hindrance or other mechanisms.





Figure 18: Inhibition of $\alpha D\beta 2$ -transfected HEK293 cells adhesion to fibrinogen-CEP by Polyglutamic acid.

The data show the inhibitory effect of polyglutamic acid on the adhesion of $\alpha D\beta^2$ transfected HEK293 cells to fibrinogen-CEP. Different concentrations of polyglutamic acid (1 µg/mL, 5 µg/mL, 25 µg/mL, and 100 µg/mL) were added to the cells that were incubated with the coated wells for 30 minutes. The cells that adhered to the wells were then quantified using a microplate reader.

The results showed that polyglutamic acid inhibits the adhesion of $\alpha D\beta^2$ transfected HEK293 cells to Fg-CEP in a concentration-dependent manner. At the lowest concentration of polyglutamic acid (1µg/ml), there was a slight decrease in cell adhesion compared to the control group. However, at higher concentrations (25µg/ml, and 100µg/ml), there was a significant decrease in cell adhesion, with the highest concentration of polyglutamic acid resulting in about 50% inhibition of cell adhesion to Fg-CEP.

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

Integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ is a crucial molecule involved in the adhesion and retention of macrophages within inflamed tissue. Inflammation causes circulating monocytes to migrate toward the site of inflammation and differentiate into tissue macrophages. Once macrophages reach the inflamed tissue, integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ present on their surface binds to extracellular matrix proteins like fibrinogen, which are abundant in the inflammatory microenvironment. This binding allows macrophages to firmly adhere to the site of inflammation, leading to their subsequent accumulation in the tissue.

The retention and accumulation of macrophages in the inflamed tissue are crucial for effective immune responses to pathogens and tissue repair. Integrin $\alpha D\beta^2$ mediated adhesion of macrophages not only enhances their retention at the site of inflammation but also promotes their polarization into a pro-inflammatory phenotype. However, sustained or aberrant activation of integrin $\alpha D\beta^2$ -mediated signaling can lead to chronic inflammation and tissue damage in various diseases such as atherosclerosis, arthritis, and cancer.

 $2-(\omega$ -carboxyethyl) pyrrole (CEP) is a byproduct of oxidative stress that is produced in inflamed tissue. The interaction between CEP and integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ plays a vital role in macrophage retention and accumulation in inflamed tissue. Integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ is expressed on the surface of macrophages and binds to CEP present on extracellular matrix proteins like fibrinogen. This interaction activates intracellular signaling pathways, resulting in the increased adhesion, migration, and retention of macrophages within inflamed tissue. Consequently, this leads to chronic inflammation, tissue damage, and disease progressions such as atherosclerosis and age-related macular degeneration.

Inhibiting the binding of CEP to integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ on macrophages is a promising approach to treating chronic inflammation. Preventing macrophage accumulation within inflamed tissue by inhibiting this interaction could help reduce inflammation. Therefore, the development of therapeutics targeting this interaction has become an area of interest. This study's findings highlight the importance of $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions in macrophage retention at sites of inflammation. Therefore, this interaction could be a potential therapeutic target in treating chronic inflammatory diseases.

The binding assay results indicate that the $\alpha D\beta 2$ I-domain preferentially binds to fibrinogen-CEP compared to fibrinogen. This indicates a higher affinity of the I-domain for the ligands formed by the oxidation of DHA during inflammation. In addition, adhesion assays showed that $\alpha D\beta 2$ exhibits stronger adhesion to fibrinogen-CEP than fibrinogen, further supporting the role of CEP in $\alpha D\beta 2$ -mediated macrophage adhesion.

The specificity of $\alpha D\beta^2$ -CEP interactions was also examined in this study. The adhesion inhibition assay showed that polyglutamic acid salt inhibits $\alpha D\beta^2$ adhesion fibrinogen-CEP, indicating that $\alpha D\beta^2$ binding to these ligands is at least partially mediated by CEP. Furthermore, the results of the antibody-blocking assay suggest that $\alpha D\beta^2$ binding to fibrinogen-CEP is specifically dependent on CEP, as the binding activity was decreased in a concentration-dependent manner with increasing concentrations of anti-CEP antibody.

Macrophage retention at sites of inflammation is critical for the resolution of inflammatory responses, as macrophages play key roles in phagocytosis, cytokine production, and tissue remodeling. The ability of $\alpha D\beta 2$ to selectively bind to fibrinogen-CEP suggests that this interaction may play a role in the recruitment and retention of

macrophages at sites of CEP deposition, such as in atherosclerotic plaques or in the lung during chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Indeed, previous studies have implicated CEP in the pathogenesis of several inflammation diseases⁶⁹. The findings of this study suggest that $\alpha D\beta$ 2-CEP interactions may contribute to these inflammatory responses by promoting macrophage retention at sites of CEP deposition.

The ability of $\alpha D\beta 2$ to selectively bind to fibrinogen-CEP may also have therapeutic implications. Targeting $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions may represent a novel approach to modulating inflammatory responses. For example, the development of small molecules that specifically disrupt $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions may be a promising approach for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. The P5 peptide (a small molecule composed of five amino acids (cysteine, arginine, tryptophan, leucine, and aspartic acid), developed in Yakubenko's lab, is a promising new approach for inhibiting the interaction between integrin aDß2 and CEP, thereby preventing macrophage retention and accumulation in inflamed tissue⁷⁰. This study further supports the potential of the P5 peptide as a therapeutic agent for the treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases by providing additional evidence of the specificity of integrin αDß2-CEP interactions and the importance of CEP in macrophage retention at sites of inflammation. The P5 peptide has shown promising results in inhibiting integrin α Dß2-CEP interactions, but further optimization is necessary to improve its pharmacokinetic properties and efficacy. Small molecules with higher affinity and specificity for aD&2-CEP interactions may offer a more effective treatment option for chronic inflammatory diseases. Further research in this area will be important for developing effective therapies and improving outcomes for patients with chronic inflammatory diseases.

However, it should be noted that this study has some limitations. The experiments were conducted in vitro, and the findings may not necessarily translate to in vivo settings. Future studies are needed to examine the role of $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions in animal models of inflammatory diseases. In addition, while this study provides insight into the specificity of $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions, further studies are needed to fully understand the molecular mechanisms underlying these interactions. The potential clinical applications of targeting integrin $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions extend beyond the treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases, as the selective binding of $\alpha D\beta 2$ to fibrinogen-CEP may also have implications for the development of biomaterials for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

In conclusion, this study provides evidence that $\alpha D\beta 2$ -CEP interactions play a crucial role in macrophage retention at sites of inflammation.

REFERENCES

- Yakubenko VP, Cui K, Ardell CL, Brown KE, West XZ, Gao D, Stefl S, Salomon RG, Podrez EA, Byzova TV. Oxidative modifications of extracellular matrix promote the second wave of inflammation via β₂ integrins. Blood. 2018 Jul 5;132(1):78-88. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-10-810176.
- Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Yannakoulia M, Chrysohoou C, Stefanadis C. The implication of obesity and central fat on markers of chronic inflammation: The ATTICA study. Atherosclerosis. 2005 Dec;183(2):308-15. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2005.03.010.
- Tobias P, Curtiss LK. Thematic review series: The immune system and atherogenesis. Paying the price for pathogen protection: toll receptors in atherogenesis. J Lipid Res. 2005 Mar;46(3):404-11. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R400015-JLR200.
- Alexandraki K, Piperi C, Kalofoutis C, Singh J, Alaveras A, Kalofoutis A.
 Inflammatory process in type 2 diabetes: The role of cytokines. Ann N Y Acad
 Sci. 2006 Nov;1084:89-117. doi: 10.1196
- Furman D, Campisi J, Verdin E, Carrera-Bastos P, Targ S, Franceschi C, Ferrucci L, Gilroy DW, Fasano A, Miller GW, Miller AH, Mantovani A, Weyand CM, Barzilai N, Goronzy JJ, Rando TA, Effros RB, Lucia A, Kleinstreuer N, Slavich GM. Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. Nat Med. 2019 Dec;25(12):1822-1832. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0675-0.
- 6. GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national agesex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories,

1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018 Nov 10;392(10159):1736-1788. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7.

- Bennett JM, Reeves G, Billman GE, Joachim P. Sturmberg. Inflammation– Nature's Way to Efficiently Respond to All Types of Challenges: Implications for Understanding and Managing "the Epidemic" of Chronic Diseases. Frontiers in Medicine 2018;5(doi:10.3389/fmed.2018.00316
- Abudukelimu A, Barberis M, Redegeld FA, Sahin N, Westerhoff HV. Predictable Irreversible Switching Between Acute and Chronic Inflammation. Front Immunol. 2018 Aug 7;9:1596. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01596.
- Lobo PI, Brayman KL, Okusa MD. Natural IgM anti-leucocyte autoantibodies (IgM-ALA) regulate inflammation induced by innate and adaptive immune mechanisms. J Clin Immunol. 2014 Jul;34 Suppl 1(0 1):S22-9. doi: 10.1007/s10875-014-0027-2.
- Kannarkat GT, Boss JM, Tansey MG. The role of innate and adaptive immunity in Parkinson's disease. J Parkinsons Dis. 2013;3(4):493-514. doi: 10.3233/JPD-130250.
- Murakami M, Hirano T. The molecular mechanisms of chronic inflammation development. Front Immunol. 2012 Nov 15;3:323. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00323.
- Kumar R, Clermont G, Vodovotz Y, Chow CC. The dynamics of acute inflammation. J Theor Biol. 2004 Sep 21;230(2):145-55. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2004.04.044.

- Takase O, Iwabuchi K, Quigg RJ. Immunoregulation of inflammation in chronic kidney disease. J Immunol Res. 2014;2014:897487. doi: 10.1155/2014/897487.
- 14. Pan H, Huang W, Wang Z, Ren F, Luo L, Zhou J, Tian M, Tang L. The ACE2-Ang-(1-7)-Mas Axis Modulates M1/M2 Macrophage Polarization to Relieve CLP-Induced Inflammation via TLR4-Mediated NF-kb and MAPK Pathways. J Inflamm Res. 2021 May 20;14:2045-2060. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S307801.
- 15. Medzhitov R. Inflammation 2010: new adventures of an old flame. Cell 2010;140(6):771-6, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.006
- Stone WL, Basit H, Burns B. Pathology, Inflammation. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC.: Treasure Island (FL); 2022.
- Franceschi C, Campisi J. Chronic Inflammation (Inflammaging) and Its Potential Contribution to Age-Associated Diseases. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A 2014;69(Suppl_1):S4-S9, doi:10.1093/gerona/glu057
- Rodier F, Campisi J. Four faces of cellular senescence. Journal of Cell Biology 2011;192(4):547-556,
- Soto-Heredero G, Gómez de Las Heras MM, Gabandé-Rodríguez E, Oller J, Mittelbrunn M. Glycolysis - a key player in the inflammatory response. FEBS J. 2020 Aug;287(16):3350-3369. doi: 10.1111/febs.15327.
- Tabas I, Glass CK. Anti-inflammatory therapy in chronic disease: challenges and opportunities. Science. 2013 Jan 11;339(6116):166-72. doi: 10.1126/science.1230720.

- Medzhitov R, Horng T. Transcriptional control of the inflammatory response.
 Nature Reviews Immunology 2009;9(10):692-703, doi:10.1038/nri2634
- 22. Fujiwara N, Kobayashi K. Macrophages in inflammation. Current Drug Targets-Inflammation & Allergy 2005;4(3):281-286,
- 23. Voisin M-B, Nourshargh S. Neutrophil transmigration: emergence of an adhesive cascade within venular walls. Journal of innate immunity 2013;5(4):336-347,
- Oishi Y, Manabe I. Macrophages in inflammation, repair and regeneration.International immunology 2018;30(11):511-528,
- Schett G, Neurath MF. Resolution of chronic inflammatory disease: universal and tissue-specific concepts. Nature communications 2018;9(1):3261, doi:10.1038/s41467-018-05800-6
- Schett G, Elewaut D, McInnes IB, Dayer JM, Neurath MF. How cytokine networks fuel inflammation: Toward a cytokine-based disease taxonomy. Nat Med. 2013 Jul;19(7):822-4. doi: 10.1038/nm.3260.
- 27. McInnes IB, Schett G. Pathogenetic insights from the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. The Lancet 2017;389(10086):2328-2337,
- 28. Nielsen OH, Ainsworth MA. Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors for inflammatory bowel disease. New England Journal of Medicine 2013;369(8):754-762,
- Tonkin J, Temmerman L, Sampson RD, Gallego-Colon E, Barberi L, Bilbao D, Schneider MD, Musarò A, Rosenthal N. Monocyte/Macrophage-derived IGF-1 Orchestrates Murine Skeletal Muscle Regeneration and Modulates Autocrine Polarization. Mol Ther. 2015 Jul;23(7):1189-1200. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.66.

- Saclier M, Lapi M, Bonfanti C, Rossi G, Antonini S, Messina G. The Transcription Factor Nfix Requires RhoA-ROCK1 Dependent Phagocytosis to Mediate Macrophage Skewing during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration. Cells. 2020 Mar 13;9(3):708. doi: 10.3390/cells9030708.
- 31. Latroche C, Weiss-Gayet M, Muller L, Gitiaux C, Leblanc P, Liot S, Ben-Larbi S, Abou-Khalil R, Verger N, Bardot P, Magnan M, Chrétien F, Mounier R, Germain S, Chazaud B. Coupling between Myogenesis and Angiogenesis during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration Is Stimulated by Restorative Macrophages. Stem Cell Reports. 2017 Dec 12;9(6):2018-2033. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.10.027.
- Epelman S, Lavine Kory J, Randolph Gwendalyn J. Origin and Functions of Tissue Macrophages. Immunity 2014;41(1):21-35, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.013
- 33. Metchnikoff É. Lectures on the comparative pathology of inflammation, delivered at the Pasteur Institute in 1891. Kegan Paul, London. 1893.
- Mosser DM, Hamidzadeh K, Goncalves R. Macrophages and the maintenance of homeostasis. Cellular & Molecular Immunology 2021;18(3):579-587, doi:10.1038/s41423-020-00541-3
- 35. Kasahara T, Matsushima K. Macrophage signaling, apoptosis, lectins and leukocyte trafficking. TRENDS in Immunology 2001;22(11):593-594,
- Parisi L, Gini E, Baci D, Tremolati M, Fanuli M, Bassani B, Farronato G, Bruno A, Mortara L. Macrophage Polarization in Chronic Inflammatory Diseases: Killers or Builders? J Immunol Res. 2018 Jan 14;2018:8917804. doi: 10.1155/2018/8917804.

- Atri C, Guerfali FZ, Laouini D. Role of human macrophage polarization in inflammation during infectious diseases. International journal of molecular sciences 2018;19(6):1801,
- Italiani P, Boraschi D. From monocytes to M1/M2 macrophages: phenotypical vs.
 functional differentiation, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014) 1–22. 2014.
- Krzyszczyk P, Schloss R, Palmer A, Berthiaume F. The Role of Macrophages in Acute and Chronic Wound Healing and Interventions to Promote Pro-wound Healing Phenotypes. Front Physiol. 2018 May 1;9:419. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00419.
- Ou Z, Dolmatova E, Lassègue B, Griendling KK. 2021. β1- and β2-integrins: central players in regulating vascular permeability and leukocyte recruitment during acute inflammation. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 320(2):H734–H739. doi:https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00518.2020.
- Marielle Saclier, Sabrina Ben Larbi, Ha My Ly, Eugénie Moulin, Rémi Mounier, et al.. Interplay between myofibers and pro-inflammatory macrophages controls muscle damage in mdx mice. Journal of Cell Science, 2021, 134 (18), pp.jcs258429. (10.1242/jcs.258429). (inserm-03404658)
- 42. Tan S-M. The leucocyte β 2 (CD18) integrins: the structure, functional regulation and signalling properties. Bioscience reports 2012;32(3):241-269,
- 43. Guo W, Giancotti FG. Integrin signalling during tumour progression. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2004;5(10):816-826, doi:10.1038/nrm1490

- Vitali T, Girald-Berlingeri S, Randazzo PA, Chen PW. Arf GAPs: A family of proteins with disparate functions that converge on a common structure, the integrin adhesion complex. Small GTPases. 2019 Jul;10(4):280-288. doi: 10.1080/21541248.2017.1299271. Epub 2017 Mar 31. PMID: 28362242;
- 45. Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 2002;110(6):673-687,
- 46. Takada Y, Ye X, Simon S. The integrins. Genome biology 2007;8(1-9,
- 47. Kürzinger K, Ho M-K, Springer TA. Structural homology of a macrophage differentiation antigen and an antigen involved in T-cell-mediated killing. Nature 1982;296(5858):668-670,
- 48. Barczyk M, Carracedo S, Gullberg D. Integrins. Cell Tissue Res 2010;339(1):269-280, doi:10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6
- Lee JO, Bankston LA, Arnaout MA, Liddington RC. Two conformations of the integrin A-domain (I-domain): a pathway for activation? Structure. 1995 Dec 15;3(12):1333-40. doi: 10.1016/s0969-2126(01)00271-4.
- 50. McCarty JH, Cook AA, Hynes RO. An interaction between αvβ8 integrin and
 Band 4.1 B via a highly conserved region of the Band 4.1 C-terminal domain.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2005;102(38):13479-13483,
- 51. Humphries JD, Byron A, Humphries MJ. Integrin ligands at a glance. Journal of cell science 2006;119(19):3901-3903,
- 52. Thome S, Begandt D, Pick R, Salvermoser M, Walzog B. Intracellular β₂ integrin (CD11/CD18) interacting partners in neutrophil trafficking. Eur J Clin Invest. 2018 Nov;48 Suppl 2:e12966. doi: 10.1111/eci.12966.

- 53. Bednarczyk M, Medina-Montano C, Fittler FJ, Stege H, Roskamp M, Kuske M, Langer C, Vahldieck M, Montermann E, Tubbe I, Röhrig N, Dzionek A, Grabbe S, Bros M. Complement-Opsonized Nano-Carriers Are Bound by Dendritic Cells (DC) via Complement Receptor (CR)3, and by B Cell Subpopulations via CR-1/2, and Affect the Activation of DC and B-1 Cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Mar 11;22(6):2869. doi: 10.3390/ijms22062869.
- Fagerholm SC, Guenther C, Llort Asens M, Savinko T, Uotila LM. Beta2-Integrins and Interacting Proteins in Leukocyte Trafficking, Immune Suppression, and Immunodeficiency Disease. Front Immunol. 2019 Feb 19;10:254. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00254.
- 55. Sun Y, Boyd K, Xu W, Ma J, Jackson CW, Fu A, Shillingford JM, Robinson GW, Hennighausen L, Hitzler JK, Ma Z, Morris SW. Acute myeloid leukemiaassociated Mkl1 (Mrtf-a) is a key regulator of mammary gland function. Mol Cell Biol. 2006 Aug;26(15):5809-26. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00024-06.
- 56. Li S, Chang S, Qi X, Richardson JA, Olson EN. Requirement of a myocardinrelated transcription factor for development of mammary myoepithelial cells. Mol Cell Biol. 2006 Aug;26(15):5797-808. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00211-06.
- 57. Weng X, Yu L, Liang P, Chen D, Cheng X, Yang Y, Li L, Zhang T, Zhou B, Wu X, Xu H, Fang M, Gao Y, Chen Q, Xu Y. Endothelial MRTF-A mediates angiotensin II induced cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2015 Mar;80:23-33. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.11.009.
- 58. Liu L, Wu X, Xu H, Yu L, Zhang X, Li L, Jin J, Zhang T, Xu Y. Myocardin-related transcription factor A (MRTF-A) contributes to acute kidney injury by regulating

macrophage ROS production. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2018 Oct;1864(10):3109-3121. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.05.026.

- Liu L, Zhao Q, Kong M, Mao L, Yang Y, Xu Y. Myocardin-related transcription factor A regulates integrin beta 2 transcription to promote macrophage infiltration and cardiac hypertrophy in mice. Cardiovasc Res. 2022 Feb 21;118(3):844-858. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvab110.
- Yakubenko VP, Belevych N, Mishchuk D, Schurin A, Lam SC, Ugarova TP. The role of integrin alpha D beta2 (CD11d/CD18) in monocyte/macrophage migration.
 Exp Cell Res. 2008 Aug 15;314(14):2569-78. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.05.016.
- Yakubenko VP, Yadav SP, Ugarova TP. Integrin αDβ2, an adhesion receptor upregulated on macrophage foam cells, exhibits multiligand-binding properties.
 Blood 2006;107(4):1643-1650, doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2509
- Aziz MH, Cui K, Das M, Brown KE, Ardell CL, Febbraio M, Pluskota E, Han J,
 Wu H, Ballantyne CM, Smith JD, Cathcart MK, Yakubenko VP. The Upregulation of Integrin α_Dβ₂ (CD11d/CD18) on Inflammatory Macrophages Promotes
 Macrophage Retention in Vascular Lesions and Development of Atherosclerosis.
 J Immunol. 2017 Jun 15;198(12):4855-4867. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1602175.
- Bailey WP, Cui K, Ardell CL, Keever KR, Singh S, Rodriguez-Gil DJ, Ozment TR, Williams DL, Yakubenko VP. Frontline Science: The expression of integrin α_D β₂ (CD11d/CD18) on neutrophils orchestrates the defense mechanism against endotoxemia and sepsis. J Leukoc Biol. 2021 May;109(5):877-890. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3HI0820-529RR.

- Calder PC. Docosahexaenoic Acid. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 2016;69(suppl 1)(Suppl. 1):8-21, doi:10.1159/000448262
- 65. Horrocks LA, Yeo YK. Health benefits of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA).
 Pharmacological research 1999;40(3):211-25, doi:10.1006/phrs.1999.0495
- Isobe Y, Arita M, Iwamoto R, Urabe D, Todoroki H, Masuda K, Inoue M, Arai H.
 Stereochemical assignment and anti-inflammatory properties of the omega-3 lipid mediator resolvin E3. J Biochem. 2013 Apr;153(4):355-60. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvs151.
- Subbanagounder G, Leitinger N, Schwenke DC, Wong JW, Lee H, Rizza C, Watson AD, Faull KF, Fogelman AM, Berliner JA. Determinants of bioactivity of oxidized phospholipids. Specific oxidized fatty acyl groups at the sn-2 position. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Oct;20(10):2248-54. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.20.10.2248.
- 68. Wang H, Linetsky M, Guo J, Choi J, Hong L, Chamberlain AS, Howell SJ, Howes AM, Salomon RG. 4-Hydroxy-7-oxo-5-heptenoic Acid (HOHA) Lactone is a Biologically Active Precursor for the Generation of 2-(ω-Carboxyethyl)pyrrole (CEP) Derivatives of Proteins and Ethanolamine Phospholipids. Chem Res Toxicol. 2015 May 18;28(5):967-77. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrestox.5b00001.
- Kim YW, Yakubenko VP, West XZ, Gugiu GB, Renganathan K, Biswas S, Gao D, Crabb JW, Salomon RG, Podrez EA, Byzova TV. Receptor-Mediated Mechanism Controlling Tissue Levels of Bioactive Lipid Oxidation Products. Circ Res. 2015 Jul 31;117(4):321-32. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.305925.

- 70. Cui K, Podolnikova NP, Bailey W, Szmuc E, Podrez EA, Byzova TV, Yakubenko VP. Inhibition of integrin α_Dβ₂-mediated macrophage adhesion to end product of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) oxidation prevents macrophage accumulation during inflammation. J Biol Chem. 2019 Sep 27;294(39):14370-14382. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.009590.
- 71. Kaur K, Salomon RG, O'Neil J, Hoff HF. (Carboxyalkyl)pyrroles in human plasma and oxidized low-density lipoproteins. Chem Res Toxicol. 1997 Dec;10(12):1387-96. doi: 10.1021/tx970112c.
- Gu X, Sun M, Gugiu B, Hazen S, Crabb JW, Salomon RG. Oxidatively truncated docosahexaenoate phospholipids: total synthesis, generation, and Peptide adduction chemistry. J Org Chem. 2003 May 16;68(10):3749-61. doi: 10.1021/jo026721t.
- 73. Zhao H, Huang H, Lin S. Chemical approaches to angiogenesis in development and regeneration. In: Methods in cell biology. Elsevier: 2016; pp. 369-376.
- 74. Casteel JL, Keever KR, Ardell CL, Williams DL, Gao D, Podrez EA, Byzova TV, Yakubenko VP. Modification of Extracellular Matrix by the Product of DHA Oxidation Switches Macrophage Adhesion Patterns and Promotes Retention of Macrophages During Chronic Inflammation. Front Immunol. 2022 May 26;13:867082. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.867082.
- Yakubenko VP, Lishko VK, Lam SC, Ugarova TP. A molecular basis for integrin alphaMbeta 2 ligand binding promiscuity. J Biol Chem. 2002 Dec 13;277(50):48635-42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208877200.

VITA

AJIBOLA ILESANMI

Education:	M.S. Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson
	City, Tennessee, 2023
	B.Tech Human Anatomy, Ladoke Akintola University of
	Technology, Ogbomoso Nigeria, 2018
Professional Experience:	Graduate Teaching Assistant, East Tennessee State
	University, Department of Biological Sciences, 2021-
	2023
Publications:	Oyelere, Sunday F.; Ajayi, Oluwatobi H.; Ayoade, Titilayo E.;
	Santana Pereira, George Bueno; Dayo Owoyemi,
	Bolaji C.; Ilesanmi, Ajibola O.; and Akinyemi,
	Olalekan A., "A Detailed Review on the
	Phytochemical Profiles and Anti-Diabetic Mechanisms
	of Momordica Charantia" (2022).